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Civil Action No. 

Plaintiffs, 

) 

) 
TEVA PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRIES LTD ) 

5 Basel St. 

Petach Tikva 49131, Israel; and 

TEVA PHARMACEUTICALS USA, INC. 

1090 Horsham Rd. 

North Wales, PA 19454-1090, 

Defendants. 

COMPLAINT FOR 

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiffs Zydus Pharmaceuticals Inc., USA and Zydus Healthcare USA LLC 

(collectively "Plaintiffs' or "Zydus"), by and through their attorneys, bring this action against 

Defendants Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd and Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. 

(collectively "Defendants" or "Teva"), and allege as follows: 

THE PARTIES 

1. Zydus Pharmaceuticals Inc., USA is a corporation organized and existing 

under the laws of New Jersey, having a principal place of business at 508 Carnegie Center, 

Suite 101, Princeton, New Jersey 08540. 



2. Zydus Healthcare USA LLC is a corporation organized and existing under the 

laws of New Jersey, having a principal place of business at 508 Carnegie Center, Suite 101, 

Princeton, New Jersey 08540. 

3. On information and belief, Defendant Teva Pharmaceuticals Industries, Ltd. is 

a corporation organized under the laws of Israel, and maintains its principal place of business 

at 5 Basel Street, Petah Tiqva 49131, Israel. 

4. On information and belief, Defendant Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. is a 

Delaware corporation with its principal place of business located at 1090 Horsham Road, 

North Wales, Pennsylvania, 19454-1090. 

5. On information and belief, Defendant Teva is engaged in the business of 

developing, manufacturing, and selling various pharmaceutical products, many of which are 

sold in Virginia. 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

6. These claims seek a declaratory judgment pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 

2202 to resolve an actual, real and immediate controversy arising under the patent laws of the 

United States, 35 U.S.C. §§ 101 et seq. between Plaintiffs and Defendants with respect to the 

non-infringement, invalidity and unenforceability of several patents. These claims also seek 

damages for Teva's antitrust violations and unfair trade practices. 

7. This is an action based upon an immediate and real controversy between Zydus 

and Teva concerning the invalidity, non-infringement, and/or unenforceability of several 

patents and Zydus' right to continue to manufacture, import, use, market, sell and offer to sell 

its risperidone API and risperidone tablets in the United States free of any legal right by Teva 

to temporarily, preliminarily, or permanently enjoin Zydus from manufacturing, importing, 
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using, marketing, selling, and offering to sell into the United States Zydus' risperidone API 

and risperidone tablets. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over these claims pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1338(a) and (b), and the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 

2202. 

9. This Court may declare the rights and other legal relations of the parties 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202 because this is a case of actual controversy with the 

Court's jurisdiction. 

10. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because of, inter alia, 

Defendants systematic, purposeful and continuous contacts in this District, Defendant Teva 

Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc.'s registration to do business in this district, and Defendant Teva 

Pharmaceuticals Industries LTD availment of privilege of doing business in this district 

through its subsidiary and agent Defendant Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. 

11. Venue is proper in this judicial district based on 28 U.S.C. §1400(b) and/or 28 

U.S.C. § 1391 (b),(c), and (d). 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

12. Zydus has filed an Abbreviated New Drug Application (ANDA) for 

risperidone oral tablets. 

13. In a letter dated September 15, 2008, Teva demanded that Zydus refrain from 

marketing any risperidone products until Teva could complete an analysis of any products that 

would be produced pursuant to Zydus' ANDA and review the processes by which such products 

would be made. Teva states in its Demand Letter: "If Zydus is not willing to cooperate with 
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Teva's evaluation and remain off market until evaluation is complete, Teva will pursue all 

remedies, including potentially seeking a temporary restraining order and subsequent injunctive 

relief under Fed. R. Civ. P. 65 if necessary. 

14. The Confidential Disclosure Agreement (CDA) attached to the Demand Letter 

requires that Zydus stipulate and agree that Teva's counsel not be disqualified from representing 

Teva in any manner, without exception, with respect to the prosecution of pending patent 

application 2006/0414051, the claims of which could possibly be amended to cover the process 

of Zydus. The CDA further requires that Zydus agree that Teva can pass the requested 

information to its employees to the extent they are designated to conduct analytical testing of 

Zydus samples. Thus Zydus is left with the Hobson's choice of either disclosing its proprietary 

and highly confidential information to Teva employees and its undefined counsel, to attempt to 

avoid a law suit, with the risk such information may be abused by Teva, or face litigation 

brought in a jurisdiction favorable to Teva if it does not provide such information. 

15. Zydus denies any infringement of the Asserted Patents and alleges, among 

other assertions, that Teva obtained the U.S. Patent 6,750,341 and U.S. Patent 7,256,195 

wrongfully with an intent to deceive the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, causing the 

Asserted Patents to issue with claims known to Teva to cover unpatentable subject matter. 

16. The threat of suit under such patents have had adverse repercussions in the 

risperidone market. 

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT CLAIMS 

Zydus brings the following claims against Defendants for declaratory judgment that the 

following Asserted Patents are invalid, unenforceable and/or not infringed. Furthermore, these 
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claims are also directed to violations of the antitrust laws of United States and the unfair 

competition law of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

The Asserted Patents 

17. U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341 (Exhibit 1) is entitled "Preparation of Risperidone," 

and was issued on June 15, 2004. 

18. U.S. Patent No. 7,256,195 (Exhibit 2) is entitled "Preparation of Risperidone," 

and was issued on August 14, 2007. 

19. Teva claims to be the current owner by assignment of U.S. Patent Nos. 

6,750,341 and 7,256,195 (collectively, the "Asserted Patents"). 

COUNT 1 

DECLARATION OF PATENT 

NON-INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,750.341 

20. Zydus repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1-19 as if set forth specifically herein. 

21. Zydus does not infringe, contribute to the infringement of, or induce 

infringement of any valid and enforceable claim of U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341. 

22. Zydus is entitled to a judgment that Zydus' manufacture, import, use, sale 

(and/or offer to sell) of risperidone products does not infringe, contribute to, or induce 

infringement of any valid and enforceable claim of U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341. 

COUNT 2 

DECLARATION OF PATENT 

NON-INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 7,256.195 

23. Zydus repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1-22 as if set forth specifically herein. 

24. Zydus does not infringe, contribute to the infringement of, or induce 

infringement of, any valid and enforceable claim of U.S. Patent No. 7,256,195. 
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25. Zydus is entitled to a judgment that Zydus' manufacture, import, use, sale 

(and/or offer to sell) of risperidone products does not infringe, contribute to, or induce 

infringement of any valid and enforceable claim of U.S. Patent No. 7,256,195 

COUNT 3 

DECLARATION OF PATENT 

INVALIDITY OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6.750.341 

26. Zydus repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1-25 as if set forth specifically herein. 

27. Claims 1- 6 and 13 of U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341 are invalid for failure to 

satisfy the provisions of the patent laws of the United States, including, but not limited to, one 

or more of sections 101, 102, 103, 112 or 282 of Title 35 of the United States Code, and/or for 

double patenting. 

28. Zydus further alleges that a person of ordinary skill in the art at the time of the 

invention would understand that the prior art included disclosures which would render claims 

1-6 and 13 of U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341 obvious and/or anticipated. Such prior art includes, 

but is not limited to, U.S. Patent No. 4,804,663, U.S. Patent Application Publication 

2002/0193386, European Patent EP 0196132, Spanish patents ES 2050069 and ES2074966, 

and O.M. Peters et. al, Acta Crystallographica (1993), Section C49, 1698-1700. Such prior 

art also includes one or more references not considered by the United States Patent and 

Trademark Office, but which on information and belief, Teva was aware of, as would be one 

of ordinary skill in the art. 

29. Zydus is entitled to a judgment that each and every of claims 1-6 and 13 of 

U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341 is invalid. 
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COUNT 4 

DECLARATION OF PATENT 

INVALIDITY OF U.S. PATENT NO. 7.256.195 

30. Zydus repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1-29 as if set forth specifically herein. 

31. The claims of U.S. Patent No. 7,256,195 are invalid for failure to satisfy the 

provisions of the patent laws of the United States, as set forth above and, including, but not 

limited to, one or more of sections 101, 102, 103, 112 or 282 of Title 35 of the United States 

Code, and/or for double patenting. 

32. Zydus further alleges that a person of ordinary skill in the art at the time of the 

invention would understand that the prior art included disclosures which would render all 

claims of U.S. Patent No. 7,256,195 obvious and/or anticipated. Such prior art includes, but is 

not limited to, U.S. Patent No. 4,804,663, U.S. Patent Application Publication 2002/0193386, 

European Patent EP 0196132, Spanish patents ES 2050069 and ES2074966, and O.M. Peters 

el. al, Acta Crystallographica (1993), Section C49, 1698-1700. Such prior art also includes 

one or more references not considered by the United States Patent and Trademark Office, but 

which on information and belief, Teva was aware of, as would be one of ordinary skill in the 

art. 

33. Zydus is entitled to a judgment that each and every claim of U.S. Patent No. 

7,256,195 is invalid. 

COUNT 5 

UNENFORCEABILITY OF U.S. PATENT 6,750,341: UNCLEAN HANDS, 

INEQUITABLE CONDUCT. AND PATENT MISUSE 

34. Zydus repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1-33 as if set forth specifically herein. 

35. U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341 is unenforceable for acts of fraud, inequitable 

conduct and unclean hands committed during the procurement thereof. 
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36. As defined by Haleblian and McCrone, J. Pharmaceutical Science?, (1969), 

vol.8, p. 911: 

"A polymorph is a solid crystalline phase of a given compound resulting from the 

possibility of at least two different arrangements of those molecules in the solid 

state...Polymorphism is the ability of any element or compound to crystallize as 

more than one distinct crystal species (e.g. carbon as cubic diamond of hexagonal 

graphite). Different polymorphs of a given compound are in general, as different 

in structure and properties as the crystals of two different compounds. Solubility, 

melting point, density, hardness, crystal shape, optical and electrical properties, 

vapor pressure, etc, all vary with polymorphic form." {emphasis added) 

37. As stated by Teva in the specification of U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341 at column 

Mines 58-67: 

" Polymorphism is the occurrence of different crystalline forms of a single 

compound and it is a property of some compounds and complexes. Thus, 

polymorphs are distinct solids sharing the same molecular formula, yet 

each polymorph may have distinct physical properties. Therefore, a single 

compound may give rise to a variety of distinct physical properties, such 

as different solubility profiles, different melting point temperatures and/or 

different x-ray diffraction peaks", (emphasis added) 

38. Thereby, in concert with the teachings of Haleblian and McCrone, Teva 

admitted understanding that melting point (temperature) is a distinct physical property of a 

polymorphic crystalline form. Indeed, prior to the filing of Teva's instant application, one of 

ordinary skill in the art would readily recognize that melting point temperature is a primary 

means of identifying different polymorphic forms of a chemical compound, and that melting 

point is a measure of the thermodynamic stability of such polymorphs. It was well known at 

the time of the filing of the application leading to U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341 that the more 

stable polymorph possessed the higher melting point. 

39. There are at least three known polymorphs or crystal forms of risperidone, 

identified by melting points (or phase transition points) and x-ray powder diffraction spectra. 
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One risperidone crystal form is defined as transforming to a more stable form near a 

temperature of 164 °C; this form has characteristic x-ray scattering diffraction peaks at about 

14.2±0.2 and 21.3± 0.2 degrees two-theta. A second risperidone crystal form is known to 

melt near 170 °C The form has characteristic x-ray scattering diffraction peaks at about 14.0± 

0.2 and 21.7± 0.2 degrees two-theta. The third risperidone polymorph or crystal form has 

characteristic x-ray scattering diffraction peaks at about 16.5± 0.2 and 14.2± 0.2 degrees two-

theta, and a different melting point than the first and second crystal forms. 

40. Teva admitted, in the specification of U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341 at column 2, 

lines 33-38, that "Polymorphs of risperidone are mentioned in the Summary Basis of 

Approval (SBA) of New Drug Application 20-272 and 20-588, however, the SBA does not 

identify them by recognized methods of crystal structure identification such as x-ray 

diffraction." Thereby, Teva admitted that polymorphs of risperidone were known and had 

been identified prior to the earliest priority date of U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341 (the risperidone 

NDA was approved in 1993). 

41. What Teva understood, but did not tell the Examiner is that the SBA describes 

a polymorph that had a melting point of about 170 °C. As one of Teva's claimed "new 

polymorphs" had a melting point of about 170 °C, Teva, as one of ordinary skill in the art, 

would have understood that its polymorph was already disclosed in the prior art. Indeed, 

analysis of the material made accordingly, demonstrates the SBA was directed to the same 

polymorph, see e.g., WO 2004/043923 Al, pp. 15-16. 

42. Furthermore, existing art at the time Teva's application was filed shows that 

the same polymorph of risperidone was, indeed, widely known and well characterized by its 

melting point and other crystalline characteristics prior to the filing of Teva's instant 
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application. Among other references, for example, U.S. Patent No. 4,804,663 to Kennis et. al, 

filed on February 5, 1986, shows at column 12, Example 5, the detailed synthesis of 

risperidone, which has the chemical name 3-[2-[4-(6-fluoro-l,2-benzisoxazol-3-yl)-l-

piperidinyl]ethyl]-6,7,8,9-tetrahydro-2-methyl-4H-pyrido[l ,2-a] pyrimidin-4-one. This 

crystal form, was identified by its melting point of 170.0 °C. Indeed the repetition of Example 

5 results in the Teva "new polymorph." 

43. According to Haleblian and McCrone, supra, as well as Teva in the instant 

specification, the melting point is a physical characteristic of a polymorph that can distinguish 

it from other forms. Teva was aware of this fact, but purposefully, and intentionally 

misrepresented the SBA and Kennis et al. references to obtain a claim on prior art material. 

44. Following a "Notice of Allowance and Fee(s) Due", mailed to Teva on 

December 09,2003, after formal prosecution of the application leading to U.S. Patent No. was 

closed, Teva mailed to the Examiner a supplemental information disclosure statement (IDS) 

dated January 30, 2004. The IDS contained two references: U.S. Patent Application 

Publication 2002/0193386 (Pfeiffer et al.), and a research publication, O.M. Peeters et al, 

Structure of 3-[2-[4-(6-fluoro-1,2-benzisoxazol-3-yl)-1 -piperidinyl]ethyl]-6,7,8,9-tetrahydro-

2-methyl-4H-pyrido[l,2-a]pyrimidin-4-one (Risperidone), Acta Crystallographica (1993), 

Section C49, 1698-1700. These late-arriving references were subsequently cited in the instant 

patent, but never discussed with the Examiner during prosecution of the application. 

45. The Peeters reference, published in 1993, disclosed in precise detail the 

crystallographic parameters of the risperidone polymorph Teva would claim, its monoclinic 

crystallographic structure, its unit cell dimensions, and uniquely and specifically identified 

that polymorph with respect to atomic dimensions of the risperidone molecules contained 
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therein. As such, this polymorphic form and its identifying structural characteristics became 

prior art as of 1993, far in advance of the filing of the application leading to U.S. Patent No. 

6,750,341. 

46. The Pfeiffer reference, although itself not prior art to the instant application, 

disclosed two crystalline forms of risperidone, that correspond to the two polymorphs, Form 

A, and Form B claimed by Teva. At. Page 1, paragraph [0007], in specific regard to the 

Peeters reference published in 1993 that was prior art, the Pfeiffer publication states: 

...'The paper [Peeters et al.] reports the crystal structure of risperidone 

API performed on a risperidone sample provided by Dr. J.P. Tollenaere, 

Janssen Pharmaceutica of Beerse, Belgium (hereinafter referred to as the 

"Reported Risperidone")- This article details the crystal structure and 

parameters associated with the structural analysis. The structure was 

reported on the sample provided, but no discussion is provided within the 

paper as to the nature of the sample analyzed, such as the crystallization or 

recrystallization procedures conducted on the sample. The polymorphic 

form of risperidone typified by the "Reported Risperidone (hereinafter 

referred to as "Form B" of Risperidone) is the only known crystalline 

form of risperidone in the scientific literature, and the procedures for 

synthesizing risperidone in U.S. Pat. No. 4,804,663 to Kennis et al. formed 

Form B risperidone(see, i.e., Example 5)." (emphasis added) 

47. Thus, the Pfeiffer publication, known to Teva, clearly identified Teva's 

polymorph of risperidone as that published by Peeters et al. in 1993, the same risperidone 

form disclosed by the Kennis patent, U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341, filed in 1986. 

48. Pfeiffer's crystal form experimentally possessed powder x-ray diffraction 

peaks at scattering angles of 14.01 and 21.3 degrees two-theta. As shown in Table 1, Peeter's 

form and Pfeiffer's form were conclusively shown to be identical. Additionally, the melting 

point of this form was reported to be near 171 °C (with onset of melting beginning at about 

169.5 °C) that corresponds closely, within experimental error, to the value of 170.0 °C 

reported by Kennis et al. 
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49. Claims 14-16 of Teva's instant application (renumbered eventually to claims 4-

6 in U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341), all of which refer to Form B of risperidone, read as follows: 

14. (original) Risperidone Form B which is characterized by x-ray 

powder diffraction peaks at 14.0±0.2 and 21.7±0.2 degrees two-theta. 

15. (original) The risperidone of claim 14 which is further 

characterized by x-ray powder diffraction peaks at 10.8±0.2, 11.9±0.2, 

12.6±0.2, 14.0±0.2, 17.5±0.2, 18.3±0.2, 19.9±0.2, 21.0±0.2, 21.7±0.2 

degrees two-theta. 

16 (original) A risperidone polymorph that is characterized by a 

powder x-ray diffraction substantially as depicted in Figure 2. 

50. Thus, claims 14-16 read on the 170 °C melting form (Form B) of risperidone, 

known by Teva to be the form disclosed by Kennis et al. in 1986 and also Peeters et al. in 

1993. 

51. Teva first committed inequitable conduct by claiming material that was known 

by Teva to be non-statutory. The references supplied by Teva demonstrated unequivocally 

and positively that the Form B polymorph then claimed by Teva in claims 14-16 of the instant 

application was prior art, having been disclosed as early as 1986 by Kennis et al., or by 

Peeters et al. in 1993, and anyone of ordinary skill in the art would have understood the same. 

52. Teva also committed inequitable conduct by intentionally misleading the 

Examiner by failing to inform the Examiner that the late-filed prior art was highly material, 

and intentionally misleading the Examiner into believing that one skilled in the art could not 

understand from the SB A that Teva's new crystalline form was nothing more than the same 

crystalline form of the SBA. 

53. The circumstantial factors surrounding such failures constituted 

mischaracterization and support an intent to deceive, thereby evidencing inequitable conduct 
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in the procurement of the U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341 and procurement of the patent by unclean 

hands. 

54. By extending the patent claims to cover prior art taught prior to the filing date 

of the application leading to such patents, Teva has improperly exploited its patent resulting in 

continuing patent misuse. 

COUNT 6 

UNENFORCEABILITY OF U.S. PATENT NO. 7,256,195: UNCLEAN HANDS. FRAUD. 

INEQUITABLE CONDUCT. AND PATENT MISUSE 

55. Zydus repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1-54 as if set forth specifically herein. 

56. U.S. Patent No. 7,2056,195, is unenforceable for acts of fraud, inequitable 

conduct and unclean hands committed during the procurement thereof. 

57. In response to an Office Action from the United States Patent and Trademark 

Office mailed to Teva on August 29, 2006, Teva made statements in an Amendment dated 

January 29, 2006[7] to traverse a 102(b) rejection of instant claims 30, and 32-52 over U.S. 

Patent No. 4,804,663 to Kennis et al. As stated above, Kennis et. al, filed on February 5, 

1986, shows at column 12, Example 5, the detailed synthesis of risperidone, which has the 

chemical name 3-[2-[4-(6-fluoro-1,2-benzisoxazol-3-yl)-1 -piperidinyl]ethyl]-6,7,8,9-

tetrahydro-2-methyl-4H-pyrido[l,2-a] pyrimidin-4-one and shows a solid, crystalline form 

thereof. This crystal form, was identified by its melting point of 170.0 °C 

58. On page 7 of the Amendment, Teva stated the following: 

"Kennis does not disclose the crystalline forms of risperidone contained in 

the pharmaceutical formulation of claims 30, 32-35, 39,40,42-46, 50, and 

51, and the crystalline forms of risperidone contained in the formulations 

administered in the methods of claims 36-38, 41, 47-49 and 52. In order 

for the risperidone to remain as a crystalline form in the pharmaceutical 

formulation, the crystalline risperidone by definition must be in a solid 

form which is never disclosed by Kennis" (emphasis added) 
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Thereby, Teva clearly stated to the Examiner that "crystalline risperidone" in solid form 

is "never disclosed by Kennis". 

59. However, Kennis et al. clearly disclose a crystalline form of risperidone, with a 

melting point of 170 degrees, which identifies the unique crystalline form thereof (column 12, 

lines 19-25. 

60. Teva committed fraud and inequitable conduct on January 29, 2007 at its 

agent's office by misrepresenting the content of a highly material reference to prior art. The 

misrepresentations made by Teva were highly material because the application thereafter 

moved to issue as U.S. Patent No. 7,256,195. Teva affirmatively misstated material facts to 

the Examiner. In contrast to Teva's statements, Kennis et al. disclose a solid, crystalline 

form of risperidone with a melting point of 170 °C. Such statement can not be merely an 

oversight, as a simple search for the phrase "crystal" would have shown that the statement 

was simply untrue. 

61. Teva also committed fraud and inequitable conduct in that is understood from 

the melting point cited in Kennis that one of its "new" crystalline forms was almost assuredly 

in the prior art. However, Teva chose to intentionally misrepresent the teachings of Kennis. 

62. Teva's statements constituted material mischaracterizations and were a direct 

intent to deceive, a fact by itself evidencing fraud and inequitable conduct in the procurement 

of the U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341 and procurement of the patent by unclean hands. 

63. By extending the patent claims to cover prior art taught prior to the filing date 

of the application leading to such patents, Teva has improperly exploited its patent resulting in 

continuing patent misuse. 

Page 14 of 33 



COUNT 7 

VIOLATION OF VIRGINIA ANTITRUST ACT 

AND COMMON LAW UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES 

64. Zydus repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1- 63 as if set forth specifically herein. 

65. Teva's acts and omissions as set forth herein constitute deceptive and 

unconscionable commercial practices and unlawful practices in derogation of the Virginia 

Antitrust Act, Va. Code Ann § 59.1-9. 

66. Specifically, by threatening to assert in a lawsuit patents which it knows to be 

invalid and/or unenforceable, and which Teva has no good faith belief are being infringed, 

Teva's representatives have undertaken activities to tortiously interfere with Zydus' present and 

future business interests regarding the sales of its risperidone API, and risperidone finished 

dosage forms. Teva has asserted such invalid/unenforceable patents for the purpose of creating 

litigation costs that are excessive relative to market share. 

67. Teva's deceptive and unconscionable commercial practices activities continue 

irrespective of its knowledge that U.S. Patent Nos. 6,750,41 and 7,256,195 are invalid and/or 

unenforceable, as set forth above. 

68. Furthermore, on information and belief, Teva's representatives have undertaken 

activities to tortiously interfere with Zydus's present and future business interest in derogation of 

the Virginia Antitrust Act, Va. Code Ann § 59.1-9, by advising Zydus's customers that any legal 

action by Teva against Zydus would result in unsellable stock should they purchase API from 

Zydus, or any formulation using API from Zydus, when such become available to the 

marketplace, and by threatening both Zydus and its customer base with legal action to curtail any 

distribution of Zydus risperidone API and API formulation. In short, Teva has tortiously 

interfered and caused injury to Zydus's present and future business interest. Teva's unfair trade 
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practices continue irrespective of its knowledge that U.S. Patent Nos. 6,750,341 and 7,256,195 

are invalid and/or unenforceable, and by its presumed knowledge that Zydus's risperidone API, 

and any formulation made using the API, would not be made by the processes asserted in the 

claims of these patents. 

69. As a result of Teva's unlawful practices in violation of Virginia's Antitrust Act, as 

well as common law unfair competition law, Zydus has been substantially damaged. 

70. Zydus is entitled to a judgment that Three Rivers's practices amount to a violation 

of Virginia Antitrust Act codified at Va. Code Ann § 59.1-9.1. 

COUNT 8 

VIOLATION OF FEDERAL ANTITRUST LAW 

71. Zydus repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1-70 as if set forth specifically herein. 

Teva's Overall Strategy to Obtain Monopolistic Power in the API and API Formulation 

Market in General and in Respect to Risperidone 

72. "Teva API", a division of Teva, markets itself as the "Undisputable API Generic 

Leader." Teva's API's figures indicate that its API sales to third parties more than tripled 

between 2000 and 2006. During the same time period, the issued patents of Teva API increased 

more than eight-fold. On information and belief during the same timeframe, the number of 

Teva's patent applications filed to cover commercially successful brand-name products (and the 

API in such name-brand products), which will ultimately become available to generic challenge, 

have skyrocketed. With respect to all of its generic API products, including generic risperidone 

API, Teva API asserts that it dedicates resources to obtaining intellectual property to protect 

itself and its customer base. See http://www.tevapharni.com/pdf/GlobalSalesMarketingTAPI.pdf. 

Exhibit 3. 
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73. Teva is known in the wider API marketplace to be "by a long stretch the dominant 

supplier in the global API market" (www.in-Pharmatechnologist.com/lavout/set/print/Materials-

Formulation/Teva-sprints-ahead-of-the-API-Field). (Exhibit 4). The ultimate objective of Teva 

with regard to obtaining intellectual property on molecules not invented by Teva is to control and 

restrict competition in the generic pharmaceutical market. On information and belief, Teva has 

undertaken measures to gain issuance of patents covering the API of commercially-successful 

brand-name drugs, methods of manufacture of the API, and formulations of the API, at all costs, 

irrespective of its duty of candor and good faith in dealing with the United States Patent and 

Trademark Office. Risperidone is but one of a number of API which Teva has obtained U.S. 

patents on through deceit, fraud and intentional misinformation. 

74. Teva has also undertaken a strategy to obtain claims that contain purposefully-

placed ambiguous language. Such patent claims are intended to be asserted against competitors 

without any real pre-suit due diligence as to the whether or not such competitor actually infringes 

the elements of the claims. 

75. Teva also seeks claims that are exceedingly narrow but which Teva deems 

protects it against Rule 11 sanctions when it asserts such claims without pre-suit investigation. 

Such claims are typically directed to subject matter that cannot be visually discerned by 

inspection of a commercial embodiment (for example, method of manufacture claims). 

76. On information and belief, Teva has willfully acquired and maintained monopoly 

power in the market of a number of APIs by undertaking a strategy of obtaining invalid and/or 

unenforceable claims, claims which it knows contains purposefully ambiguous terms, and 

narrow method of manufacture claims which it knows will unlikely be infringed in light of 

known prior art methods of manufacture. Such claims cover the manufacture of API, forms of 
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such API (such as polymorphic forms), and formulations comprising the API or forms of the 

API. Teva seeks such questionable patent claims in applications directed to "block buster" FDA-

approved drugs, filing its patent applications years before a brand name's patent for the drug is 

set to expire, typically before or the point that market exclusivity of the brand-name product is 

about to expire (and generic manufacturers can challenge the patents in the Orange Book on the 

product with a Paragraph IV certification filing). Teva's program is wide reaching and covers a 

significant number of generic molecules. 

77. Teva's strategy is to obtain patents covering the API, forms of the API and 

formulation of the API or forms of the API, before other generics have had the opportunity to 

enter the marketplace. On information and belief, Teva initiated over ten years ago plans in 

violation of the Sherman Act to unfairly restrict generic competition and enhance its control over 

customers and competitors via an abuse of the U. S. Patent Office through the filing of frivolous 

patents on API and Finished Dosage forms of API on highly commercially successful brand 

name products (products where Teva was not the innovator). Using patents which as stated are 

frequently obtained through deceit, fraud and intentional misrepresentation/misinformation, Teva 

attempts to force potential competitors in the applicable generic market to purchase API from 

Teva and to pay Teva royalties on any API formulation sold. Teva also uses its threats of, and 

institution of, legal action on the inequitably and fraudulently obtained claims to bully and/or 

scare potential purchasers of API and API formulations from purchasing from a Teva competitor. 

All of this is done to achieve Teva's goal of market control of the API market, and ultimately the 

API formulation market. 

78. Teva's asserts such questionable claims against any third party whose actions 

indicate that they will compete against Teva in a particular pharmaceutical market. On 
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information and belief, by threatening and instigating suit, and then offering formulation royalty 

rates along with a Teva API supply requirement (i^., purchase of API from Teva), Teva attempts 

to control the generic API marketplace, as well as to limit competition (and ultimately gain 

monopoly control) in the API formulation marketplace. In a number of cases, the royalty rate on 

API formulations, and the Teva price of API to be sold to the competitor, is set by Teva to be just 

enough to raise the price of the competitor's formulation above the price of Teva's similar 

formulation and API. By having its competitors agree to Teva as the sole source of their API, 

Teva keeps such competitors from manufacturing API and sourcing the same to other Teva 

competitors. That is, by controlling API source and price, and enforcing royalty payment on the 

API formulation actually sold by the competitor, Teva is able to artificially raise the price of its 

competitors' API and API formulations as compared to Teva's corresponding API and API 

formulations. 

79. Teva also asserts its known invalid and/or unenforceable and/or known non-

infringed claims, against competition in order to frighten wholesalers, distributors, national 

chains and mail order customers regarding purchase of competitor's product, with the potential 

risk that they too might be involved in an infringement suit if they purchase API or API 

formulation, from a Teva competitor. That is, irrespective of Teva's knowledge of the weakness 

of its case against any direct competitor in the API and/or API formulation marketplace, Teva 

uses its threats of lawsuit and lawsuits to control customers by informing them of the potential 

litigation risks associated with buying from a source other than Teva, thereby threatening the 

customers with interruption of supply of product if the other generic company is forced to 

withdraw from the market if they infringe said Teva patents. In short, Teva uses its patent 

position as leverage with distributors, national chains and mail order customers of generic 
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Pharmaceuticals as Green mail - putting risk in the mind of the customer if they buy the API 

formulation from a competitor that they could be financially harmed via a loss of product supply. 

Those injured by Teva's anticompetitive, monopolistic, unfair, and fraudulent activities include 

generic manufacturers of API and API formulators (such as Zydus), wholesalers and distributors 

of API and API formulations, pharmacies, customers of the same and the general public. 

80. In summation, Teva files its suits to burden potential generic competitors with 

litigation costs that are significant, and force such companies to enter into licenses, a condition of 

which is that such competitors purchase API for their proposed generic product from Teva and/or 

pay a royalty fee on the API formulation that the competitor actually desires to sell. Through 

such licenses, Teva seeks to control the market for competing generic API and API formulations, 

enabling it to increase the selling price for its own generic API formulations in the overall 

marketplace. 

Teva's Monopoly Power and Market in Respect of Risperidone 

81. The relevant market in the present case is the generic risperidone API ("active 

pharmaceutical ingredient") market and the generic risperidone API formulation market. The 

relevant geographic market in which to access the anticompetitive effects of Teva's conduct is 

the United States. 

82. On information and belief, Teva currently has, and attempts to obtain, monopoly 

power in the generic risperidone API market, and the generic risperidone API formulation 

market in the United States. 

83. On information and belief, Zydus asserts that Teva is making a substantial profit 

from its sales of generic risperidone API, and its own generic risperidone API formulation, in the 
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United States. Zydus alleges that irrespective of antitrust concerns this action revolves around 

the large impact competition would have on Teva's financial bottom line. 

84. On information and belief, sales of generic risperidone API sold by Teva 

constitute a monopolistic portion of the entire generic risperidone API market in the United 

States. On information and belief, because of its large market share, Teva has, and has had, the 

power behind the visibility of the marketplace to control prices in the generic risperidone API 

marketplace, and is in possession of monopoly power in such market. 

85. On information and belief, Teva has, has also had, and attempts to maintain, a 

monopolistic position in the generic risperidone API formulation market in the United States. 

On information and belief, because of its large market share, Teva has, and has had, the power 

behind the visibility of the marketplace to control prices in the generic risperidone API 

formulation marketplace, and is in possession of monopoly power in such market. 

86. There is no interchangeability or cross-elasticity between generic risperidone 

API/risperidone API formulations and potential therapeutic substitutes. Risperidone is an 

antipsychotic drug that has a unique pharmaceutical profile, having fewer extrapyramidal side-

effects than other neuroleptics. Unlike other neuroleptics, risperidone has dopamine D2 receptor 

antagonist and 5-HT2 receptor antagonist properties, as well as 1 and 2 adrenergic and H-l 

histaminic receptor activity. It is a novel atypical neuroleptic with a favorable profile of side 

effects due to its unique pharmacological activity. Treatment with generic risperidone can not be 

replaced by treatment with any other neuroleptic without the patient potentially experiencing 

considerably more side-effects. 

87. The generic risperidone formulation market has seriously degraded the prior 

nearly 2.5 - 3.5 billion dollar a year U.S. market for brand-name Risperdal®. Teva was the first 
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generic manufacturer to gain entrance into such generic market, making substantial profits due to 

its early entry. Teva has fought hard to keep other generic manufacturers off the market. 

88. On information and belief, Teva has threatened other generic manufacturers who 

have received final approval of their ANDA on risperidone with the pursuit of all appropriate 

remedies if they do to agree to remain off the market until a time uncertain when Teva, after 

reviewing data it demands, determines that their product does not infringe one or more claims of 

their U.S. Patent Nos. 6,750,341 and 7,256,195. Teva has used, and intends to use, its threats to 

such other generic manufacturers as leverage with distributors, national chains and mail order 

customers to keep them form obtaining generic risperidone API, and generic risperidone API 

formulations, from other competitive suppliers. 

89. As Teva's past actions have shown with respect to other APIs, as discussed 

above, there is a dangerous probability of Teva achieving further extraordinary monopoly power 

in the risperidone API market and the risperidone API formulation market. 

90. Teva has threatened Zydus, and other generic manufacturers holding an ANDA 

on generic risperidone API and formulations, in order to attempt to create, and maintain, an 

illegal monopoly as the source for generic risperidone API in the United States, and to 

manipulate the selling price of competitor risperidone API formulation such that Teva's own 

generic risperidone API formulations can gain a greater market share, and Teva maintain, and 

gain on, its monopolistic share of the market. 

91. Specifically, Zydus asserts, as discussed above, that Teva is using fraudulently 

and inequitably obtained claims in U.S. Patent Nos. 6,750,341 and 7,256,195, with such patents 

being invalid and unenforceable, to maintain its command and control of the generic risperidone 

API, and generic risperidone API formulation, marketplaces. 
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Intentional Assertion of Risperidone Patents Known to 

Have Been Obtained by Inequitable Conduct and Fraud - Walker Process 

92. As set forth above, Teva obtained U.S. Patent Nos. 6,750,341 and 7,256,195, by 

among other things, seeking claims known to it to be invalid in the patent application leading to 

U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341 in light of prior art, fraudulent misrepresentation of prior art to the 

USPTO in the application leading to U.S. Patent Nos. 6,750,341 and 7,256,195, and by seeking 

known obvious claims in the patent applications leading to U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341 and 

7,256,195, all with an intent to deceive. Teva knew or should have known of the materiality of 

its misrepresentations and false representations. 

93. Upon information and belief, as discussed above, Teva has a policy and practice 

of starting and maintaining legal proceedings against Zydus and others, for the sole purpose of 

causing them to forego marketing an API, and formulations of the API, without regard to the 

merits of those actions. In addition, upon information and belief, Teva has been charged with 

willful violation of the Sherman Act across many similar molecules in the past. It is clear that 

such assertions will certainly be made in the future. 

94. Zydus devoted a significant amount of time, effort and resources (monetary and 

otherwise) to the development, preparation and filing of its ANDA on risperidone and in the 

development of its product and manufacturing lines. 

95. The knowing and willful acts of Teva in threatening to baselessly enforce U.S. 

Patent Nos. 6,750,341 and 7,256,195 against Zydus has caused Zydus to be injured in its 

business and property and to suffer, and continue to suffer, damages. 

96. Zydus is entitled to recover threefold the damages it has sustained, the costs of 

suit, and reasonable attorneys' fees and, under 15 U.S.C. § 26, Zydus is entitled to injunctive 
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relief, including an order restraining Teva from any future enforcement of U.S. Patent Nos. 

6,750,341 and 7,256,195 against Zydus. 

Threat of Sham Litigation 

97. The threat of litigation by Teva is brought in bad faith, in that Teva knowingly 

and intentionally threatens Zydus with patents, U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341 and 7,256,195, known 

to it to be invalid, unenforceable, or to have been obtained inequitably or by fraud on the Patent 

Office, as discussed in detail above. 

98. With respect to the patents asserted against Zydus, Teva knows any action that it 

would bring would be baseless. The knowing and willful acts of Teva in threatening to 

baselessly enforce U.S. Patent Nos. 6,750,341 ("the '341 Patent"), and 7,256,195 ("the '195 

Patent") against Zydus constitute a threat of sham litigation by reason of which Zydus has been 

and will continue to be injured in its business and property, and has suffered, and will continue to 

suffer, damages. 

99. Upon information and belief, recognizing that its claims are directed prior art 

compositions and methods, Teva has not undertaken any analysis to determine whether Zydus' 

activities could possibly infringe any of the Asserted Patents. By threatening a lawsuit without 

conducting a basic pre-filing investigation to determine whether Zydus' products infringe any of 

the claims of U.S. Patent No. 6,750,341 or 7,256,195, Teva has asserted infringement without a 

good faith belief of infringement. By such action, Teva has harmed and continues to harm Zydus 

and other parties by subjecting them to legal fees and expenses in defending this action, and in 

causing uncertainty in the marketplace, which it understands only accrues to Teva's benefit. 

100. Teva's threat of litigation is objectively and subjectively a threat of sham 

litigation that falls within the sham exception to the Noerr-Pennington doctrine. Any lawsuit 

brought by Teva on U.S. Patent Nos. 6,750,341 or 7,256,195 would be objectively baseless in 
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that no reasonable litigant could realistically expect success on the merits given the obviousness 

of the subject matter claimed therein, and the clear invalidity and/or unenforceability of the 

claims. 

101. Irrespective of Teva's knowledge that any action by it on U.S. Patent Nos. 

6,750,341 or 7,256,195 would be baseless, Teva threatened action for the improper purpose of 

imposing collateral, anticompetitive injury to Zydus by precluding and delaying Zydus and all 

other competitors from entering the generic risperidone API, and generic risperidone API 

formulations market. 

102. By monopolizing or attempting to monopolize, the generic risperidone API 

market, and the generic risperidone API formulations market, and/or further perpetuating its 

monopoly power in the sale and distribution in the United States of generic risperidone API, and 

generic risperidone API formulations, Teva has prevented Zydus from earning profits from sales 

of the API (with Zydus being on API competitor with Teva API), and formulations made using 

the generic risperidone API. 

Violation of 15 U.S.C. §2 - Sherman Act 

103. Teva's conduct constitutes illegal, unfair, predatory conduct in violation of 15 

U.S.C. § 2 calculated to prevent competition in the market for competing generic risperidone 

API, and generic risperidone API formulations made with the generic risperidone API, in the 

United States. This conduct is designed with the specific intent and dangerous probability of 

success to monopolize the market for generic risperidone API and generic risperidone API 

formulations in the United States. Through its conduct, Teva has erected, and attempted to erect, 

artificial barriers to entry, such as the threat of injunction, royalty payments, and litigation costs, 

by others who plan to enter the market for competing generic risperidone API, and generic 
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risperidone API formulations, in the United States. Critical again is the fact that this represents 

only one of the many molecules that Teva is currently trying to control in the marketplace. 

104. As the vast majority of insurance and other third party payers pay only a set, 

relatively small, dispensing fee to dispensing pharmacies, it is known to Teva that pharmacists 

will typically dispense the lowest cost generic available to the pharmacy as opposed to other 

generic brands to maximize the pharmacy's profit margin. Teva's threats of infringement 

litigation are therefore also intended to create and maintain a larger market share in the sale of 

competing generic risperidone API formulations in the United States by allowing it to cause 

competitors to charge higher prices for their products than Teva by forcing them to pay higher 

sums for generic risperidone API than incurred by Teva, along with forcing them to pay a royalty 

on their own generic risperidone API formulation sales. Such actions by Teva have caused and 

will continue to cause the prices charged to the public for generic risperidone API, as well as 

generic risperidone API formulations, to be maintained at an artificially high level, resulting in 

harm to competition, in violation of § 2 of the Sherman Act. 

105. Teva, by its course of conduct described above, threatens willfully and unlawfully 

to maintain its monopoly in generic risperidone API, and generic risperidone API formulation, 

and threatens to prevent Zydus from entering and competing in the risperidone API, and 

risperidone API formulation, market. 

106. Teva, by its course of conduct described above, threatens directly and proximately 

to cause, upon Zydus's receipt of approval of its ANDA, injury to consumers and competition by 

causing prices for generic risperidone API, and generic risperidone API formulation, to remain 

substantially above competitive levels and otherwise preventing competition in the generic 

risperidone API, and generic risperidone API formulations. 

Page 26 of 33 



107. Teva, by its course of conduct described above, threatens directly and proximately 

to cause, upon Zydus's receipt of approval of its ANDA, antitrust injury to Zydus's business and 

property, including without limitation the imminent loss of millions of dollars in profits from lost 

sales of generic risperidone API, and generic risperidone API formulations. 

108. Pursuant to Section 16 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. § 26), Zydus is entitled to an 

order enjoining Teva from threatening to litigate sham infringement claims, and threatening to 

foreclose, upon Zydus's receipt of approval of its ANDA, Zydus from the generic risperidone 

API market and generic risperidone API formulation market. 

109. Upon Zydus's receipt of FDA approval of its ANDA, Zydus will be entitled to 

recover such actual damages attributable to Teva's continued threat of litigation of the sham 

infringement claims, including lost profits and the monetary consequences of market share 

erosion, trebled, plus Zydus's cost of suit, including reasonable attorneys' fees, pursuant to 

Section 4 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 15. 

110. The injuries that Teva's conduct threatens to cause, upon Zydus' receipt of 

approval of its ANDA, to Zydus's business are of the type that the Sherman and Clayton Acts 

were intended to prevent. Such injuries flow from the same course of conduct that makes Teva's 

acts unlawful under the Sherman and Clayton Acts. Zydus has no adequate remedy at law for 

the injunctive relief sought in this claim and seeks such relief to remedy otherwise irreparable 

harm. 

111. Teva threatens to violate Section 2 of the Sherman Act by willfully and 

unlawfully maintaining its monopoly power in the generic risperidone API market, and generic 

risperidone API formulation market, from the date of Zydus' receipt of approval of its ANDA 

and thereafter. Teva will accomplish the threatened violation of Section 2 by litigating sham 
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infringement claims solely for the illegal purpose of delaying, impeding, or preventing, upon 

Zydus's receipt of tentative approval of its ANDA, Zydus' entry into the generic risperidone 

API, and generic risperidone API formulation, market. 

Antitrust Misuse of U.S. Patent Nos. 6,750,341 and 7,256,195 

to Obtain or Coerce an Unfair Advantage 

112. Teva has asserted rights under U.S. Patent Nos. 6,750,341 and 7,256,195 in a 

manner designed to obtain and coerce an unfair advantage. 

113. Teva also knew at the time it threatened suit, that based on KSR Int'l Co. v. 

Teleflex Inc., 82 USPQ2d 1385 (U.S. 2007), claims encompassing subject matter that is clearly 

obvious-to-try with a reasonable expectation of success are not patentable. 

114. As Teva understood that the prior art discussed above made the subject matter 

asserted in all of its claims of U.S. Patent Nos. 6,750,341 and 7,256,195, obvious-to-try with a 

reasonable expectation of success, Teva understood that all of the claims of U.S. Patent Nos. 

6,750,341 and 7,256,195 were invalid for obviousness, and that any action brought under the 

patents would be objectively baseless and subjectively meritless, and would cause antitrust injury 

to its competition. 

115. Zydus alleges such actions by Teva have caused and will continue to cause 

antitrust injury and harm to competition in the market for competing generic risperidone API, 

and generic risperidone API formulations, in the United States, and consumers thereof. 

Harm To Consumers From Antitrust Activities 

116. Teva has knowingly and willfully relied upon U.S. Patent Nos. 6,750,341 and 

7,256,195 known to it to be invalid and/or unenforceable to force Zydus not to market generic 

risperidone API or generic risperidone API formulation pursuant to its ANDA. The purpose and 

effect of Teva's threats of action was to attempt to block defendant Zydus from entering the 
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market for generic risperidone API, a market in which Teva has monopoly power and generic 

risperidone API formulation, which Teva also holds monopoly power. Teva attempts to 

maintain such power and to obtain further monopoly power. Such treats of action were also 

made to force Zydus to pay royalties to Teva and put risk in the mind of potential customers of 

Zydus' that generic risperidone API, and generic risperidone API formulation, made pursuant to 

Zydus's ANDA is infringing on one or more claims of Teva's patents and as such there is 

significant risk to buy Zydus product, not the least is the potential for loss of Zydus product in 

the marketplace. As a result of such conduct, consumers have been deprived of the benefits of 

lower-priced generic competition for generic risperidone API, as well as generic risperidone API 

formulations, that might have occurred. The prices for generic risperidone API continue at 

artificially, high and monopolistic levels, and the prices for generic risperidone API formulations 

continue at artificially high and monopolistic levels, as a result of Teva's illicit and 

anticompetitive acts. 

117. Teva has monopolized, attempted to monopolize, conspired to monopolize, and 

unlawfully restrained trade, by engaging in the aforementioned anticompetitive acts and 

practices, including threatening unlawful institution and maintenance of objectively baseless 

sham litigation against defendant Zydus to artificially maintain high prices for generic 

risperidone API, and formulations containing generic risperidone API, sold in the United States, 

while restraining any further competition in such markets. Such monopolization has raised 

substantial barriers to entry into the relevant market and given Teva the power to exclude 

competition, thereby depriving consumers of the benefits of lower-priced generic competition. 

Such acts and practices are anticompetitive in nature and tendency and constitute an unfair 

method of competition. 
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118. Teva's actions intended to protect its monopoly position in the sale of generic 

risperidone API, and generic risperidone API formulation, constitute an attempt to monopolize 

generic risperidone API and generic risperidone API formulation sales in the United States and 

have resulted in harm to competition in violation of § 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2. 

119. Such actions by Teva have caused and will continue to cause the prices charged to 

the public for generic risperidone API, and generic risperidone API formulations, to be 

maintained at anticompetitive levels and have prevented competitors from entering the market to 

sell generic risperidone API, and generic risperidone API formulations, at prices significantly 

below those of Teva. 

120. Consequently, Zydus is entitled to a judgment that Teva's conduct constitutes 

unlawful monopolization under 15 U.S.C. § 2. 

121. Zydus is entitled to recover threefold the damages it has sustained, the costs of 

suit, and reasonable attorneys' fees and, under 15 U.S.C. § 26, Zydus is entitled to injunctive 

relief, including dismissal of the present action and an order restraining Teva from any further or 

future enforcement of the patents-in-suit against Zydus. 

COUNT 9 

TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE 

WITH PROSPECTIVE ECONOMIC ADVANTAGE 

122. Zydus repeats and re-alleges Paragraphs 1- 121, as if set forth specifically herein. 

123. Zydus has a continuing, economically advantageous relationship for the supply of 

generic API and generic API formulation. 

124. As set forth above, Teva has knowingly interfered with this relationship by 

threatening to file lawsuits for the purpose of barring Zydus from beginning or continuing to 

supply generic risperidone API and generic risperidone API formulation. 
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125. As asserted above, Teva has threatened these lawsuits in bad faith and in violation 

of federal antitrust law for the purpose of restraining trade and monopolizing the market for 

generic risperidone API, and generic risperidone API formulation, in the United States. 

126. By engaging in the actions set forth above, Teva has intentionally interfered with 

Zydus' present and future business interest with respect to making and selling generic 

risperidone API, and products containing generic risperidone API, in the United States, including 

Zydus1 ability to realize an economic advantage therefrom. 

DEMAND FOR JUDGMENT 

WHEREFORE, Zydus prays for the following relief: 

1. That a judgment be entered declaring that Zydus has not infringed, does not 

infringe, and does not induce or contribute to infringement of any valid claim of U.S. Patents 

Nos. 6,750,341 and 7,256,195 and that Zydus has a lawful right to manufacture, import, use, sell 

and/or offer to sell generic risperidone API, and generic risperidone API formulations in the 

United States; 

2. That a judgment be entered declaring the claims of U.S. Patents Nos. 6,750,341 

and 7,256,195 invalid and/or unenforceable; 

3. That Teva and its agents, representatives, attorneys and those persons in active 

concert or participation with them who receive actual notice hereof, be preliminarily and 

permanently enjoined from threatening or initiating infringement litigation against Zydus or its 

actual or prospective customers, dealers or suppliers, clinical investigators, or any prospective or 

present sellers, dealers, distributors or customers of Zydus, or anyone in privity with Zydus, or 

charging any of them either orally or in writing with infringement of U.S. Patents Nos. 6,750,341 

and 7,256,195; 
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4. That an Order be entered declaring this action is an exceptional case within the 

meaning of 35 U.S.C. § 285 and that Zydus is entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys' fees 

upon prevailing in this action; 

5. That a judgment be entered declaring that Teva have engaged in unfair practices, 

including under the Virginia antitrust Act and under 15 U.S.C. § 2, and tortious interference with 

Zydus' prospective economic advantage, and enjoining Teva from engaging in such practices; 

6. That an order be entered restraining Teva from engaging in such unfair practices; 

7. That Zydus be awarded damages including lost profit, costs, expenses, 

prejudgment interest and attorney fees under 15 U.S.C. § 2; 

8. That an order be entered that Teva account to Zydus for all gains, profits and 

advantages realized by Teva by reason of its acts herein alleged; 

9. That the Court find this case exceptional and award to Zydus its attorneys fees 

under 35 U.S.C. §285 and other relief, both legal and equitable, to which they may be justly 

entitled, including treble damages; and 

10. That Zydus be awarded such other and further relief as the Court deems just and 

equitable. 
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